FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/16/2020 3:28 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> Supreme Court No. <u>99032-8</u> (Court of Appeals No. <u>79717-4-I</u>)

#### SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

#### LABORWORKS INTERNATIONAL STAFFING SPECIALISTS, LLC,

Respondent.

# PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

#

II.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION		
III.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
IV.	IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Temporary Workers Are a Vulnerable Population3	
	B.	Laborworks Entered Into a Daily Assignment Contract with Strategic Materials, a Recycling Facility That Processes Waste—Including Glass and Used Needles	
	C.	Laborworks Employees Had Poking Incidents with Sharp Objects, Which Required Following Blood-Borne Pathogen Regulations	
	D.	L&I Cited Laborworks Because It Did Not Provide Long- Term Blood-Borne Pathogen Medical Monitoring, Training, and Vaccinations	
V. ARGUMENT		GUMENT10	
	A.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Will Lead to a Gap in Protection as Temporary Workers Move from Worksite to Worksite	
	B.	Laborworks' Knowledge of Blood-Borne Pathogen Exposure Should Be Considered in Determining the Employment Relationship16	
VI.	CONCLUSION		

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Aerotek, 2018 CCH OSHD ¶ 33,663, 2018 WL 2084250
(O.S.H.R.C.A.L.J. 2018)
Air Conditioning & Elec. Sys., Inc., 3 BNA OSHC 1351, 1975 WL 4883
(O.S.H.RC.A.L.J May 22, 1975)
Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 281 P.3d 289 (2012)
Bayley Constr. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 10 Wn. App. 2d 768, 450 P.3d 647, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1004 (2020)
Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC, 181 Wn.2d 186, 332 P.3d 415 (2014) passim
Bratton Corp. v. Occ. Safety & Health Rev. Comm'n, 590 F.2d 273 (8th Cir. 1979)
Chao v. Occ. Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 540 F.3d 519 (6th Cir. 2008)
D. Harris Masonry v. Dole, 876 F.2d 343 (3d Cir. 1989)
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Slaugh, 177 Wn. App. 439, 312 P.3d 676 (2013)16
<i>Elec. Smith, Inc. v. Sec'y of Labor,</i> 666 F.2d 1267 (9th Cir. 1982)
<i>Erection Co. v. Dep't of Labor &amp; Indus.</i> , 160 Wn. App. 194, 248 P.3d 1085 (2011)

Havens Steel Co. v. Occ. Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 738 F.2d 397 (10th Cir. 1984) 17					
Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 151 Wn.2d 568, 90 P.3d 659 (2004)					
Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 191 Wn. App. 9, 361 P.3d 767 (2015)11					
<i>Staffchex</i> , No. 10-R4D3-2456, 2014 WL 4546924 (Cal. Occ. Safety & Health Admin. Aug. 28, 2014)					
<b>Constitutional Provisions</b>					
Wash. Const. art. II, § 35 10, 11, 13, 18					
Statutes					
RCW 49.17.010					
RCW 49.17.020(4)					
Rules					
RAP 13.4(b)(1)					
RAP 13.4(b)(4)					
Regulations					
WAC 296-62-07521					
WAC 296-62-07521(11)(b)					
WAC 296-817-200 to -50025					
WAC 296-817-40010(1)(a)					
WAC 296-817-40015					

	WAC 296-823-099
	WAC 296-823-100
	WAC 296-823-12005(5)
9	WAC 296-823-12015(1)
9	WAC 296-823-13005
	WAC 296-823-14005
9	WAC 296-823-14005(2)
9	WAC 296-823-17005(1)
	WAC 296-840-145
	WAC 296-840-145(1)

# **Other Authorities**

Dep't of Labor & Indus. Safety & Health Assessment & Research for Prevention, <i>Temporary Worker Injury Claims</i> , https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety- research/files/2017/76_07_2017_TemporaryWorkerInjuryClaims. pdf	
Dep't of Labor & Indus., Div. of Occ. Safety & Health, <i>Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement</i> , Directive 1.15, https://demo- public.lni.wa.gov/dA/96edf1ea0f/DD115.pdf6, 16	
Dep't of Labor & Indus., <i>Temporary Workers</i> , https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-research/ongoing- projects/temporary-workers#overview	
Mark A. Rothstein, Occ. Safety & Health L. § 7:7 (2020 ed.)	

Occ. Safety & Health Admin.,				
Protecting Temporary Workers, https://www.osha.gov/temp_workers/				
Occ. Safety & Health Admin., <i>Temporary Worker Initiative: Bloodborne Pathogens</i> , https://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3888.pdf6, 14, 16				
<u>Appendix</u>				
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Laborworks Industrial Staffing Specialists, Inc., No. 79717-4-I				
(Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2020)App. 001				
Dep't of Labor & Indus., <i>Temporary Workers</i> , https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-research/ongoing- projects/temporary-workers#overview				
Dep't of Labor & Indus. Safety & Health Assessment & Research for Prevention, <i>Temporary Worker Injury Claims</i> , https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety- research/files/2017/76_07_2017_TemporaryWorkerInjuryClaims. pdf				
Occ. Safety & Health Admin., Protecting Temporary Workers,				
https://www.osha.gov/temp_workers/ App. 016				
Occ. Safety & Health Admin., <i>Temporary Worker Initiative: Bloodborne Pathogens</i> , https://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3888.pdf App. 020				
Dep't of Labor & Indus., Div. of Occ. Safety & Health, <i>Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement</i> , Directive 1.15, https://demo-				
public.lni.wa.gov/dA/96edf1ea0f/DD115.pdf App. 024				

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Vulnerable to exploitation and dangerous work conditions, temporary workers suffer when there is a gap in worker safety protections between what their staffing agency and the agency's customer provides. These employers may point to each other to argue they are not responsible for ensuring a temporary worker is safe. The Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act (WISHA) corrects that gap.

But the Court of Appeals' decision undermined enforcement of these worker-safety laws by allowing a staffing agency to evade responsibility for WISHA standards even though the staffing agency knew of the hazards and was in a better position than its customer to provide the required training, vaccinations, and medical monitoring necessary to mitigate the risk at issue: contamination by blood-borne pathogens. These ongoing duties are not limited to one worksite, but apply site to site.

Blood-borne pathogens may cause workers to contract Hepatitis B or other diseases when working with sharp objects. Staffing agency Laborworks knew that its employees were exposed to sharp objects at the hosting company, which required Laborworks' compliance with the blood-borne pathogen rules. Yet, it provided ineffectual partial measures that failed to adequately protect its workers as required by law. It cannot be the rule that a staffing agency that knows about a hazard has no

responsibilities under WISHA. And the Court of Appeals' contrary position presents an issue of substantial public interest.

Also, the Court of Appeals disregarded Laborworks' worksite-toworksite responsibilities when it ruled that Laborworks lacked sufficient control over the work environment for the court to consider it an "employer" under WISHA. This approach creates a gap in protection for temporary workers because it puts the sole responsibility on hosting companies to comply with worksite-to-worksite rules.

These worksite-to-worksite rules include not only blood-borne pathogen rules but other rules protecting against exposure to noise, lead, silica, and other hazards. The rules include threshold exposure triggers or require long-term safety precautions that will not or cannot be met by hosting companies, which may only employ a particular employee at a particular job site for one or two days. The staffing agencies' longer-term relationships with temporary workers provide a better opportunity to provide training, offer vaccinations, conduct medical monitoring, and document those activities. Closing the gap in worker protections presents an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with *Becerra v*. *Expert Janitorial, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 186, 197–98, 332 P.3d 415 (2014), in

which the Court also considered permanency and knowledge as factors under the economic realities test.

The Court of Appeals' decision undermines worker safety, conflicts with a Supreme Court decision, and presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). This Court should take review.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Department of Labor and Industries (L&I) asks this Court to review *Department of Labor & Industries v. Laborworks Industrial Staffing Specialists, Inc.*, No. 79717-4-I (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2020) (cited as "slip op." and attached as App. at 1–11).<sup>1</sup>

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should a staffing agency that knows about a hazardous work condition, has control over a temporary worker, and has a permanent relationship with the worker be deemed an "employer" under WISHA, requiring compliance with worker-safety laws?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Temporary Workers Are a Vulnerable Population

The temporary work industry is growing rapidly, with a vulnerable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> L&I has also petitioned for review in a related case in which review should be granted. *See Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Tradesmen Int'l, LLC*, No. 79634-8-I (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2020).

worker population. Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Temporary Workers*.<sup>2</sup> L&I treats the influx of temporary workers seriously, as temporary work poses significant hazards to workers. Temporary workers file about twice as many workers' compensation claims as permanent workers in comparable occupations. Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Temporary Worker Injury Claims*.<sup>3</sup> Temporary workers, who may work a short duration only, have been found to be more likely than their permanent peers to lack familiarity with their hosting employer's worksite and to receive limited communication about physical hazards, which create barriers to risk mitigation.

Temporary Workers, App. at 12.

Because of the dangers to temporary workers, Washington has joined with the federal Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) in an initiative to protect temporary workers. *See* Occ. Safety & Health Admin., *Protecting Temporary Workers*.<sup>4</sup> Under Washington law, Washington's worker-safety standards must equal or exceed Occupational Safety & Health Act standards. RCW 49.17.010. OSHA recognizes the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Temporary Workers*, <u>https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-research/ongoing-projects/temporary-workers#overview</u> (attached as App. at 12–14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dep't of Labor & Indus. Safety & Health Assessment & Research for Prevention, *Temporary Worker Injury Claims*, <u>https://www.lni.wa.gov/safetyhealth/safety-research/files/2017/76\_07\_2017\_TemporaryWorkerInjuryClaims.pdf</u> (attached as App. at 15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Occ. Safety & Health Admin., *Protecting Temporary Workers*, <u>https://www.osha.gov/temp\_workers/</u> (attached as App. at 16–19).

potential for abuse of temporary workers, which Washington shares:

OSHA has concerns that some employers may use temporary workers as a way to avoid meeting all their compliance obligations under the OSH Act and other worker protection laws; that temporary workers get placed in a variety of jobs, including the most hazardous jobs; that temporary workers are more vulnerable to workplace safety and health hazards and retaliation than workers in traditional employment relationships; that temporary workers are often not given adequate safety and health training or explanations of their duties by either the temporary staffing agency or the host employer. Therefore, it is essential that *both* employers comply with all relevant OSHA requirements.

Protecting Temporary Workers, App. at 16. Temporary staffing agencies

and hosting employers share "control over the worker, and are therefore

jointly responsible for temporary workers' safety and health." Id.

OSHA firmly places responsibilities on the staffing agency to

provide blood-borne training, vaccinations, and follow up after exposures:

The staffing agency whose employees have reasonably anticipated occupational exposure to blood . . . is responsible for providing generic bloodborne pathogen information and training, ensuring that the temporary workers are provided with the required vaccinations and follow-up, providing proper post-exposure evaluation and follow-up after an exposure incident, and retaining applicable medical and training records in accordance with 1910.1030(h).

Occ. Safety & Health Admin., Temporary Worker Initiative: Bloodborne

#### Pathogens.<sup>5</sup>

Under L&I's established practices, if a staffing agency has notice about a hazard that has arisen on a job site and does not take steps to mitigate the hazard, L&I may cite the agency. Dep't of Labor & Indus., *Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement*, Directive 1.15.<sup>6</sup>

#### B. Laborworks Entered Into a Daily Assignment Contract with Strategic Materials, a Recycling Facility That Processes Waste—Including Glass and Used Needles

Laborworks is an industrial staffing agency. AR 392-93. It

contracted to supply employees to Strategic Materials, a recycling facility

that processes waste, including glass and used needles. AR 393. In

summer 2016, Laborworks had six employees working at Strategic. AR

401. Laborworks hired the employees, and only Laborworks could fire

them. AR 418–20, 462. Laborworks assigns the employee to a job site,

and the customer cannot change the job duty or assignment without

Laborworks' permission. AR 477–78.

Laborworks is responsible for payroll and other employment

obligations. AR 414–16. Laborworks paid industrial insurance and

<sup>6</sup> Dep't of Labor & Indus., Div. of Occ. Safety & Health, *Dual Employers and DOSH Enforcement*, Directive 1.15, <u>https://demo-public.lni.wa.gov/dA/96edf1ea0f/DD115.pdf</u> (attached as App. at 24–28). L&I reissued this directive in 2019 with no changes; it was first adopted in 2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Occ. Safety & Health Admin., *Temporary Worker Initiative: Bloodborne Pathogens*, <u>https://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3888.pdf</u> (attached as App. at 20–23).

unemployment premiums and agrees it is responsible under workers' compensation laws for injuries to employees at its customers' workplaces. AR 415–16. At Strategic's job site, Laborworks usually paid its employees at the end of each workday. AR 415. Laborworks considered the Strategic contract a "daily assignment." AR 415; *see also* AR 445.

Laborworks can order its employees to use safety equipment at customers' worksites. AR 429–30. Laborworks can remove its employees from a worksite it considers unsafe. AR 431.

Laborworks performs one "safety walk through" at the worksite of its customers before its employees start working there. AR 423–24. Laborworks inspected Strategic's job site. AR 423–24, 508–09, 510-11. From this inspection, it learned that its employees would be exposed to blood-borne pathogens while working at Strategic. AR 508, 510.

### C. Laborworks Employees Had Poking Incidents with Sharp Objects, Which Required Following Blood-Borne Pathogen Regulations

Needles and other sharp objects may puncture workers and infect a worker with a blood-borne pathogen. Employers thus need to protect their workers against "contaminated sharps" defined as "[a]ny contaminated object that can penetrate the skin including, but not limited to, needles, scalpels, broken glass, broken capillary tubes, and exposed ends of dental wires." WAC 296-823-099; see also WAC 296-823-14005.

With these sharps, there were "poking" incidents at Strategic. In February 2016, a Laborworks employee "felt a sharp object poke his hand." AR 394. Laborworks knew of the incident but maintains a practice of not doing random safety checks. AR 394, 459. It also did not provide training about blood-borne pathogens to all its workers, nor could it prove it offered vaccinations to all its workers. AR 422–23, 440, 473–75. The result was in July 2016, a needle stick injured a Laborworks employee working at Strategic. AR 495.

### D. L&I Cited Laborworks Because It Did Not Provide Long-Term Blood-Borne Pathogen Medical Monitoring, Training, and Vaccinations

After an investigation into the July 2016 needle-stick injury, L&I discovered several safety violations and issued a citation to Laborworks. It alleged violations of the worksite-to-worksite standards and site-specific rules relating to exposure to blood-borne pathogens. AR 203–10.

One citation item alleged a violation of WAC 296-823-12005(5), which requires employers to provide training to employees exposed to blood-borne pathogens. AR 206. This rule is a worksite-to-worksite requirement because it provides general knowledge to workers that applies across job sites. Laborworks provided some of its temporary employees with an L&I PowerPoint training about blood-borne pathogens. AR 411, 422–23, 440. This training was incomplete, and Laborworks did not ensure all its employees received the proper training as required by WAC 296-823-12005(5) before the July 2016 needle-stick incident. AR 498.<sup>7</sup>

L&I cited Laborworks for violating WAC 296-823-13005, which requires employers to make Hepatitis B vaccinations available to employees who are exposed to blood-borne pathogens in their work. AR 205. This worksite-to-worksite requirement applies across assignments. Laborworks offered some employees vaccinations, but could not find documentation showing it provided vaccinations for all employees. AR 463, 473–75.

L&I also cited Laborworks for violating WAC 296-823-17005(1) and WAC 296-823-12015(1), which require employers to maintain specific records about employees who have been exposed to blood-borne pathogens and to keep training records for three years. AR 206–07. It did not keep such records. AR 441-42. These are worksite-to-worksite rules.

Another citation item alleged a violation of WAC 296-823-14005(2), which requires employers to "use work practices designed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Review of the PowerPoint did not meet the training standards because WAC 296-823-12005(5) requires that the employer also have a blood-borne pathogen exposure plan and train its employees on the elements of the plan.

eliminate or minimize employee exposure" to blood-borne pathogens. AR 205. L&I cited Laborworks under WAC 296-823-14005 because its workers handled sharp objects by hand without using safety equipment such as forceps, tongs, or pliers. AR 205. Laborworks agreed there was unsafe loading. AR 495.

L&I cited Laborworks because it had notice of a hazard that had arisen on a job site—the "poking hazard"—that Laborworks learned about from a prior poking incident in February 2016 and from its job site inspection of Strategic, a recycling center with sharp objects. AR 394, 508, 510.

Laborworks appealed the citation to the Board. AR 261. The Board vacated L&I's citation. AR 7–8. L&I appealed to superior court. CP 1. The superior court reversed the Board. CP 122. The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court. Slip op. at 11.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Washington Constitution mandates the protection of workers at worksites. Wash. Const. art. II, § 35; *see Bayley Constr. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 768, 781–82, 450 P.3d 647, *review denied*, 195 Wn.2d 1004 (2020). A staffing agency should not dodge these protections by a misuse of the economic realities test used to determine whether a company is an "employer." RCW 49.17.020(4). The economic realities test is designed to ensure that state regulation applies when a company has a sufficient connection to a worker.<sup>8</sup> Any interpretation of the test must be interpreted against the backdrop of the state constitution (*see* Wash. Const. art. II, § 35), WISHA's purpose in providing "safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington" (*see* RCW 49.17.010), and the required liberal interpretation to achieve the purpose of providing safe working conditions for Washington workers. *See Bayley Constr.*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 781–82. When applying the economic realities test, this Court has emphasized it will not apply any particular factor mechanically, and "[t]he determination of the relationship does not depend on . . . isolated factors but rather upon the circumstances of the whole activity." *Becerra*, 181 Wn.2d at 198 (establishing joint-employer test for wage violations) (quotations omitted).

This case presents conflicts with Becerra in two ways, considered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The factors in the economic realities test used by the Court of Appeals are: 1) who the workers consider their employer; 2) who pays the workers' wages; 3) who has the responsibility to control the workers; 4) whether the alleged employer has the power to control the workers; 5) whether the alleged employer has the power to fire, hire, or modify the employment condition of the workers; 6) whether the workers' ability to increase their income depends on efficiency rather than initiative, judgment, and foresight; and 7) how the workers' wages are established.

Slip op. at 6–7 (quoting *Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 191 Wn. App. 9, 31, 361 P.3d 767 (2015)).

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