FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/16/2020 3:54 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99032-8

SUPREME COURT THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

V.

LABORWORKS INDUSTRIAL STAFFING SPECIALISTS, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Aaron K. Owada, WSBA #13869 Sean Walsh, WSBA #39735 Richard Skeen, WSBA #48426 Attorneys for Respondent

> OWADA LAW, PC 975 Carpenter Road NE #204 Lacey, WA 98516 Tel: (360) 483-0700 Fax: (360) 489-1877

I. INTRODUCTION

The Supreme Court should deny the Department's Petition for Discretionary Review because new workers, including temporary workers, have higher rates of injury than permanent workers and the existing safety laws apply to temporary workers to ensure that there is no "gap" in worker safety coverage. As such, there is no issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals Decision below is an unpublished decision thus limiting any adverse impact claimed by the Department.

II. ANSWER

A. New workers have three times the risk of lost time injury than permanent workers.

Pursuant to RAP 2.5, the Department failed to raise OSHA's Blood Borne Pathogen Worker and Temporary Worker Initiatives and Worker's Compensation statistical arguments at the Board and at the King County Superior Court when it appealed the Board's Decision and Order. The Department called one witness, Kari Misterek, the HR and Safety Manager for LaborWorks in the administrative hearing before the Board. As noted in the CABR, she did not present any evidence relating to the Blood Borne Pathogen or temporary worker injury rates. Those issues were not addressed before the Board, or the King County Superior Court. Although the Department made similar arguments in its brief, the Court of Appeals did not address these policy arguments ostensibly because they were not raised below.

Generally, failure to raise an issue before the trial court precludes a party from raising it on appeal. *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wash.2d, 26, 37, 666 P.2d, 351 (1983); RAP 2.5. But if an issue raised for the first time on appeal is "arguably related" to issues raised in the trial court, a court may exercise its discretion to consider newly-articulated theories for the first time on appeal. *See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Amirpanahi*, 50 Wash.App. 869, 751 P.2d 329 (1988). Because the Certified Appeal Board Record which was reviewed and considered by the Board did not contain the policy theories raised for the first time on appeal, and the Court of Appeals did not address those issues, the Court should not consider them now.

The new OSHA Initiatives for Blood Borne Pathogens have no force of law because they have never been adopted as a CFR under the federal rule making process, nor were they adopted by Congress. The Department incorrectly cites to RCW 49.17.010 to support its proposition that Washington must adopt OSHA's initiative for the protection of temporary workers. RCW 49.17.010 requires the Department to adopt OSHA standards that are equal to or exceed OSHA's promulgated standards. Since the OSHA initiatives have not been adopted as standards, RCW 49.17.010 does not apply.

If the Supreme Court is inclined to entertain the Department's newly raised arguments, it should also consider that new workers, including temporary workers, are injured at higher rates than permanent workers. Although not part of the record below, the Department states that temporary

workers file twice as many worker's compensation claims as compared to permanent workers. The Department states:

"The temporary work industry is growing rapidly, with a vulnerable worker population. Dep't of Labor & Indus., Temporary Workers. L&I treats the influx of temporary workers seriously, as temporary work poses significant hazards to workers. Temporary workers file about twice as many workers' compensation claims as permanent workers in comparable occupations. Dep't of Labor & Indus., Temporary Worker Injury Claims."

The Department ignores the fact that new employees in their first month on the job have more than three times the risk for a lost-time injury than workers who have been at their job for more than a year. IWH research published in 2012 concluded that risk was higher among new workers who were older, men and workers in the "goods sector," including construction and manufacturing. This may be because these jobs have more physical demands, and older workers might be more physically susceptible to injury.

Additionally, IWH researchers determined that newness is a more significant risk factor than youth. A 2006 study concluded that workers' compensation claim rates decrease as tenure increases, regardless of age. These researchers concluded that as there is more part time work, workers are moving from job to job, and are thus more exposed to hazards and job settings that they have yet to become familiar with. The reasons why new workers have a higher injury rate than permanent employees is complex.

¹ New workers, higher risk , June 2016, Safety & Health Magazine, www.safetyandhealthmagazine.com, articles 14053.

More importantly, the real issue at bar is whether LaborWorks had any authority or control to abate the hazards cited by the Department.

The Department should not turn to the courts to change the law. Rather, the Department should exercise its vast authority to enact administrative rules to address the concerns and precarious nature of new workers, including temporary workers.

B. The economic realities test is the law of the land to determine whether a temporary staffing agency has sufficient control over the worker and the worksite to be an "employer" under the Act.

Under current law, the Court of Appeals and the Board correctly concluded that in order to cite a temporary staffing agency, it must be shown under the economic realities test that the temporary agency had sufficient control over the worker and the worksite. Both the Court below and the Board adopted the leading case across the country, *Secretary of Labor v. MLB Industries*, OSHRC Docket No. 83-0231, In that case, the Commission vacated a fall protection citation against MLB, the loaning employer, because it was not an "employer" for purposes of the Occupational Safety and Health Act. The Commission held:

This case involves the circumstances under which a particular company can be considered an "employer" under the Act so as to be held responsible for the safety of its employees. The Supreme Court has held, in the context of other statutes, that it is inappropriate to use varying state common law definitions of an employee and employer in construing federal legislation. *United States v. Silk*, 331 U.S. 704 (1974). Instead of looking at narrow common law definitions, the Supreme Court has looked to the purpose of the statute involved in deciding how employment relationships should be defined. *NLRB v. Hearst Publications, Inc.*, 322 U.S. 111, 124 (1944) (the meaning of the term" employee" under the National Labor Relations Act is to be determined primarily from the history,

terms, and purposes of the legislation). Further, the United States courts of appeals that have addressed the issue under the Act have held that employment relationships should be determined by reference to the Act's purpose and policy. *Clarkson Construction Co. v. OSHRC*, 531 F.2d 451, 457-58 (10th Cir. 1976); *Frohlich Crane Service, Inc. v. OSHRC*, 521 F.2d 628, 631-32 (10th Cir. 1975).

The express purpose of the Act is to "assure so far as possible every working man and woman in the Nation safe and healthful working conditions." 29 U.S.C. 651(b). To effectuate this purpose, it is appropriate for the Commission, in considering whether an employment relationship exists, to place primary reliance upon who has control over the work environment such that abatement of the hazards can be obtained. This approach is consistent with the above-cited Supreme Court and courts of appeals opinions. It is also in keeping with the Commission's analysis in the analogous situation of the multi-employer construction worksite, where the Commission has concluded that the Act's purpose is best served if an employer's duty to comply with OSHA standards is based upon whether it created or controlled the cited hazard.

(Emphasis added).

Likewise, the Board adopted the *MLB* holding in *In re Skills Resource Training Center*, BIIA Dec., 95 W 253 (1997) (holding that the Employer, for purposes of a WISHA Citation, is the employer with control over the worksite). Significantly, in joint-employment situations, both employers cannot be cited unless both have substantial control over the workers and the work environment involved in the violations. *See Id.* (determining that the primary employer should not have been cited for any WISHA violations because it did not control the worksite where the violations occurred).

The Court of Appeals below affirmed the Federal Government's seven part "economic realities" test in joint employment situations to determine which employers should be issued a WISHA citation. *Id.* As

held below, the economic realities test was also used by the Court of Appeals in determining whether there is a WISHA violation involving leased or temporary employees. *Potelco, Inc. v. Dept' of labor and Indus.*, 191 Wn. App. 9, 30-31, 361 P.3d 767 (2015). The economic realities test analyzes: (1) who the worker considers their employer; (2) who pays the workers' wages; (3) who has the responsibility to control the workers; (4) whether the alleged employer has the power to control the workers; (5) whether the alleged employer has the power to fire, hire, or modify the employment condition of the workers; (6) whether the workers' ability to increase their income depends on efficiency rather than initiative, judgment and foresight; and (7) how the workers' wages are established. *Potelco*, 191 Wn. App. at 31.

Despite the Department's spurious attempts to downplay the issue of control over workers and the work environment in determining whether an "employer" is liable at a joint-employer jobsite², this is exactly what the Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission ("OSHRC") and the Board considered.

Washington State caselaw and federal OSHA caselaw do not support the Department's assertion that LaborWorks should be an "employer" for purposes of WISHA. The Board's Finding of Fact No. 5

² A joint-employer worksite generally involves leased workers or temporary employees, which must be distinguished from a multi-employer worksite, which is one where employees of several employers perform their duties under the ultimate direction of one of the employers, such as a general contractor. (CABR p. 5-6).

was specifically reviewed by the Court of Appeals. Finding of Fact No. 5 found:

5. Both LaborWorks and Strategic maintained the right to terminate workers. However, Strategic exerted daily control over the employees by assigning work and providing supervision over the LaborWorks workers.³

Based on this Finding of Fact that Strategic Material exerted daily control over the temporary employees, the worksite, and the work environment at the Strategic Materials jobsite the Court of Appeals held that LaborWorks did not have significant control over the workers or the working conditions. Therefore, the Board's Decision and Order vacating the Citation against LaborWorks was supported by substantial evidence and the law and was therefore affirmed.

The Department argues that control over the work environment should not be necessary to establish an employment relationship, and cites *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 871–72, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).

The Court of Appeals rejected the Department's argument that control of the worksite was not a required element under the economic realities test. The Court held:

³ Pursuant to RCW 49.17.150, the Board's Findings of Fact are deemed conclusive if supported by substantial evidence in the record. The Court of Appeals found that this Finding of Fact was supported by substantial evidence and was therefore conclusive. This Court respectfully lacks jurisdiction to overturn Findings of Fact supported by the record. As such, the Department' invitation to change the findings to support its contention that LaborWorks had significant control must be declined.

"[I]n leased employment situations, whether the lessor or the lessee should be cited for WISHA violations depends on the economic realities of who controls the workplace. Both employers cannot be cited unless they both have substantial control over the workers and the work environment involved in the violations." In re Skills Res. Training Ctr., No. 95 W253 at 3 (Wash. Bd. of Indus. Ins. App. Aug. 5, 1997) (emphasis added). Under the Agreement, Strategic Materials had the responsibility to "[p]roperly supervise Assigned Employees performing its work" and to "[p]roperly supervise, safeguard, and control its premises." Strategic Materials also took on the responsibility to "[p]provide Assigned Employees with a safe work site." Thus, under the contract, Strategic Materials bore the responsibility of controlling the workers and the job site. This factor weighs against citing Laborworks as an employer.

In applying the economic realities test to decide whether a staffing agency constitutes an 'employer' under WISHA, the Court of Appeals looked to whether staffing agencies have control over the work environment.

Worker safety is not eroded by the Court of Appeals' decision. The rationale in *MLB*, *supra*, is sound. It is consistent with WISHA to place primary reliance upon who has control over the work environment such that abatement of the hazards can be obtained. This approach is consistent with the above-cited Supreme Court and courts of appeals opinions. It is also in keeping with the Commission's analysis in the analogous situation of the multi-employer construction worksite, where the Commission has concluded that, "the Act's purpose is best served if an employer's duty to comply with OSHA standards is based upon whether it created or controlled the cited hazard." It would be fundamentally unfair to hold a temporary staffing agency responsible for safety violations it did not create, control, or have any ability to correct.

The decision from Court of Appeals below reflects this sound judgment and correctly notes the difference between dual employer v. multi-employer worksites. The strong public interest is to maintain the existing law, and to have the Department regulate employers who create and control hazardous conditions for all workers, including temporary workers.

C. The Department's attempt to apply a multi-employer worksite analysis to a dual employer relationship should not be adopted.

The Department's use of constructive knowledge that is part of a multi-employer worksite analysis is intellectually dishonest. The Department argues that, knowledge serves the same purpose as control over the work environment as it allows a company to address the hazardous conditions. The Department further asserts that:

"Federal cases find an employer responsible for safety violations when the employer does not control the worksite but exposes the worker to a known safety hazard. D. Harris Masonry v. Dole, 876 F.2d 343, 345-46 (3d Cir. 1989); Havens Steel Co. v. Occ. Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 738 F.2d 397, 400-01 (10th Cir. 1984); Bratton Corp. v. Occ. Safety & Health Rev. Comm'n, 590 F.2d 273, 275-76 (8th Cir. 1979); Mark A. Rothstein, Occ. Safety & Health L. § 7:7 (2020 ed.). Thus, control over the worker should be the test, not control over the worksite. A lack of control over the worksite should not excuse a staffing agency from protecting its workers. See Staffchex, No. 10-R4D3-2456, 2014 WL 4546924, at *3 (Cal. Occ. Safety & Health Admin. Aug. 28, 2014) ("When [a staffing agency] assigns an employee to a worksite, it has a non-delegable duty to inspect the site and make certain that it is safe for its 18 employees' intended activities [a staffing agency] cannot escape liability by its assertions of lack of control.") (quotation omitted)."

All of the cases cited by the Department to support its argument that knowledge serves the same purpose as control involve multi-employer worksites, not dual employer worksites. Accordingly, the Department's argument is not valid and should not be accepted.

The Department argues that the existing definition is far too limited and lets staffing agencies off the hook even when they know their workers face safety risks. If the Court of Appeals decision stands, staffing agencies will escape liability even for known safety violations that the agencies intentionally failed to address. By extension, the Department argues that:

"Otherwise, there would be the situation where a staffing agency manager could witness a temporary worker using bare hands to sort waste potentially laden with needles and Laborworks would have no obligation to do anything while the manager watches a needle puncture the worker's skin. Such a scenario may seem preposterous but could be a direct outcome from the Court of Appeals' decision."

The Department ignores a dual employer worksite cases where the temporary agency was cited because it had sufficient control. *Sec. of Labor*, v. *Aerotek*. OSHRC Docket No. 16-0618, p. 8 (March 23, 2018).

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